4 SELECT COMMITTEE TO INVESTIGATE THE
5 JANUARY 6TH ATTACK ON THE U.S. CAPITOL,
6 U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,

7 WASHINGTON, D.C.

10

11 INTERVIEW OF: RICHARD WALTERS

12

13

14

15 Wednesday, May 25, 2022
16

17 Washington, D.C.

18

19

20 The interview in the above matter was held via Webex, commencing at 10:07 a.m.

AUTHENTICATED
U.S. GOVERNMENT
INFORMATION

GPO



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Appearances:

For the SELECT COMMITTEE TO INVESTIGATE

THE JANUARY 6TH ATTACK ON THE U.S. CAPITOL:

I PROFESSIONAL STAFF MEMBER

I ROFESSIONAL STAFF MEMBER
I -\ ANCIAL INVESTIGATOR
I cHicr cLerk

I -\ ANCIAL INVESTIGATOR

I, 5:\(OR INVESTIGATIVE COUNSEL

For RICHARD WALTERS:

TODD STEGGERDA

EMILY KELLEY

McGuireWoods

888 16th Street NW, Suite 500
Black Lives Matter Plaza

Washington, D.C. 20006



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Mr- This is the transcribed interview of Richard Walters

conducted by the House Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the
United States Capitol pursuant to House Resolution 503.

At this time, I'd ask the witness to please state your full name and spell your last
name for the record.

Mr. Walters. Richard Walters, W-a-I-t-e-r-s.

Mr_ Now, this will be a staff-led interview, although members
may choose to ask questions. | will note that currently we are not joined by any
members.

My name is|j | . = | am an investigative counsel with the
select committee. With me from the select committee are_, senior
investigative counsel;_, aninvestigator. We also have joining
eIectronicaIIy_an_, two other investigators.

At this time, I'd ask counsel to identify himself for the record.

Mr. Steggerda. My name is Todd Steggerda. [|'m a partner at McGuireWoods in
Washington, representing Mr. Walters. [I'm joined telephonically by my colleague and
associate at McGuireWoods, Emily Kelley.

Mr_ Now, Mr. Walters --

Mr. Steggerda. -? One question.

p——
Mr. Steggerda. | see someone on the line named |||} . s be 2

stenographer, or is that a different --

Mr. _ No, he's not, but he's with the select committee staff.

He's a non-member with the select committee staff who is helping.
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Mr. Steggerda. Okay.

v . Ve

Now, Mr. Walters, you are voluntarily here for this transcribed interview.

Ground rules for the interview.

There is an official reporter transcribing the record of this interview. The
reporter's transcription is the official record of the proceeding.

This proceeding is also audio and video recorded, and we ask that neither you nor
your counsel audio or video record this proceeding.

Now, please wait until each question is completed before you begin to respond,
and we will do our best to wait until your response is complete before we ask the next
question.

The reporter cannot note nonverbal responses, such as shaking or nodding your
head. Soitisimportant that you respond to each question with an audible, verbal
response.

Please give complete answers to the best of your recollection. If a question is
unclear, please ask for clarification. If you do not know the answer, please just say so.

| also remind you that this is a congressional proceeding and it is unlawful to
deliberately provide false information to Congress. Doing so may result in criminal
penalties.

Now, logistically, if at any time you want to take a break or discuss something with
your lawyer, please let us know. We're happy to accommodate.

Before we get started, do you have any questions?

Mr. Walters. No.

v S oky. Great.

| will note still that there are no members present. And to the extent that
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anyone from the committee joins, | will do my best to let you know that happens.

Q

EXAMINATION

Now, Mr. Walters, before we get started, do you remember meeting with us

for an informal interview some months back?

A

Q

| do.

All right. Now, today's interview will be pretty similar to that informal

interview, and we'll go through some of the same topics.

Before we get started, what's your full name? Do you have a middle name?

A

Q

> 0O > 0O >

> 0O

Yes. Richard William Walters.

Okay. And what's your date of birth?
I

And where do you reside?
Washington, D.C., currently.

What's your address?

And what's your cell phone number?

area code [N

| assume this information's not going to be shared outside of this?

Q

A

Q

No, it's -- it's not shared outside of this, no.
Okay.

And what's your -- was that the cell phone number you had in November of

2020 through January of '21?

A

Q

Yes.

And what is your -- do you have an Instagram or Twitter account?
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A | do.

Q  And what are their handles?

A | believe my Twitter handle is RWW _GOP, and | do not know what my
Instagram handle is. | very rarely use social media.

Q  Were those accounts you had in that same time period of late 2020 to early
217

A Yes.

Q  And give us some background regarding your education.

A | have an undergraduate degree in public policy from University of
Mississippi and attended Columbia University for a graduate degree in education policy
and social analysis, though | did not complete it.

Q  Allright.

Let's go through your professional background. Let's start with your work with
the RNC in 2014, and let's work our way forward. So what was your first role with the
RNC?

A For clarity, | started at the RNC in 2013 as the deputy Midwest finance

director. And that was for 2013 and 2014.

Q  And what did you do in that role, very generally?

A Major donor fundraising.

Q  And then tell us about your next role at the RNC.

A | was the Midwest and Northeast finance director.

Q  And was that the same responsibilities, just for a different geographical

area?
A No. The first responsibility, | was the deputy, so reporting to a director.

The second | mentioned, | was director, so a little bit more responsibility, but the same
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general work, | guess.

Q  Okay. Yeah, okay, that makes sense.

Tell us about your next role.

A Finance director.

Q  And what are the roles of finance director?

A In this capacity, | was responsible for writing a budget for major donor
fundraising and overseeing a team to execute those goals and raise the money for the
major donor side.

Q  And what was your next role?

A Interim chief of staff.

Q  And when did you take on that role?

A In August of 2017.

Q  And what were your responsibilities -- was interim chief of staff the same
responsibilities as you eventually undertook as chief of staff?

A More or less. Sure. Yeah.

Q  Okay. And what were those?

A Just to clarify, the interim process was pretty much just to keep the
day-to-day moving, right, as a search was happening for a new chief of staff. But,
ultimately, yes, the responsibilities ended up being the same.

Q  And what were those responsibilities as chief of staff?

A So | oversaw the mission and vision of the RNC, which was to create a
permanent ground game throughout the country, the most robust data operation in party
history, and to, like | said, create a field operation that helped Republicans win up and
down the ballot.

Q  Let'stalk about -- and who did you report to as chief of staff?
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A Chair of the party, Ronna McDaniel.

Q  Was she the chair of the party for the duration of your tenure as chief of

staff?

A She was.

Q  And how often would you say in 2020 you were in contact with Ms.
McDaniel?

A Daily or, at minimum, every other day, but likely daily, especially since we
were in the middle of the pandemic and really trying to move into a virtual operation.

Q  Andin the reporting structure of the RNC, can you give us insight into, was
she the only person you reported to? Was there anyone else above you that wasn't
her?

A So, technically, the RNC is made up of 168 members, three from each U.S.
State and territory. And those members are the governing body of the party, and those
members select the chair of the party.

So, in some respect, | was responsible for reporting to them as well, but typically it
was on a more general basis, unless members had specific questions about specific
aspects of something we may have been working on, if that makes sense.

Q ltdoes. Thank you for the explanation.

So, on a day-to-day basis, is it fair to say that you reported just to Chairman
McDaniel?

A Yes.

Q  And was anyone else her direct report, or did everyone feed through you?

A No, she had others who reported to her as well -- the COO, CFO, different
department directors that she would call and talk with.

Q  Canvyou give us a brief rundown of who those people are?
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A Sure. So CFO, COOQ, political director, data director, finance director, digital
director. Really, if something -- communications director -- if she had a question on
something, she would call either me or the director.

Q  Now, of the people you just mentioned, did any of them report to you? [I'm
trying to get a sense of the structure, whether --

A Yeah--

Q  Understanding that, on a day-to-day basis, the chairman can speak to
whoever she chooses to speak to --

A Right.

Q - but, at least on a formulaic sense, were -- like, for example, the digital
director, the political director, were those folks, at least in a formal sense, reporting to
you?

A Yeah, so if you're looking at an org chart, she would be at the top, | would be
under her, and then those director would be under me, reporting up.

Q  And who was the digital director in 20207?

A Kevin Zambrano.

Q  And Mr. Zambrano stayed on through the election, into at least January
2021, correct?

A Correct.

Q  And who was the political director in 20207

A Chris Carr.
Q  Anddid he stay on through January '21?
A He was on payroll, yes, but he wasn't really present. But, yes, he was on

payroll.

Q Whendid he stop being present, as far as you can recall?
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A From what | recall, like, after the election.

Q  Now, you're currently a senior advisor to the chair; is that right?

A That's correct.

Q  And when did you undertake that role?

A In February of 2022, this year.

Q  And what are your responsibilities there?

A So | am focused on some of the long-term projects of the party, so the 2024

Presidential nominating process, the national convention, primary and general debates,
as well as offering guidance and assistance to the current team when needed.

Q Right.

So let's -- we're going to try to streamline this interview some, more so than our
prior informal, so we're going to kind of get to it. Let's jump forward to leading into
election day.

A Okay.

Q  So, a week before election day in 2020, tell us a bit about what your week
leading up to election day looks like. What are you doing, what are your responsibilities,
directly before election day?

A So, from what | can recall, our focus at that time is paid voter contact. So a
lot of political digital messaging, political digital text messaging, turning out voters and
making sure that that's what's happening throughout the country in all of our target
battleground districts and battleground States.

Q  AsI'msure you're aware, Mr. Walters, leading into the 2020 election,
President Trump discussed his expectation regarding possible fraud during the election.
Do you recall those public statements by the former President?

A Vaguely, yes.
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Q  As RNC chief of staff, do you recall any preparation or otherwise efforts that
the RNC had leading into the 2020 election regarding the potential for fraud?

A Yes.

Q  Canyou tell us about that?

A Yes. We were involved in litigation in States across the country. You
know, we saw a multitude of Governors use COVID as a way to change election laws and
change the way the process of voting had happened for decades in this country and really
remove a lot of safeguards from voting and from ballots. And so we were involved in
suing those States to help prevent any fraud from occurring.

Q  And what was your role in those efforts, if any?

A Sure. So our legal counsel would bring the potential litigation, lawsuits, to
me and discuss them, and he would seek approval as to whether or not we would move
forward with litigation.

Q  And who was that individual?

A Justin Riemer was our chief counsel then.

Q  And was Mr. Riemer's -- did you rely on his legal advice?

A Yes.

Q  And what's your view of Mr. Riemer? Do you hold him in high regard? Do
you hold his advice in high regard?

A Yesto both.

Q Anddid, post-election, Mr. Riemer keep advising you on litigation efforts
across the country?

A Yeah, more of updating what was going on. Post-election, he really was
working with the campaign on a litigation effort and litigation strategy. And, really, how

this worked was, he would call or we would meet, and he would say, "This is what
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the -- you know, the issue is. | think we should engage/| think we shouldn't engage.
What do you want to do?" He'd give a recommendation and then ask for how to
proceed.

Q Isitfair to say that you thought that Mr. Riemer had a fulsome and deep
understanding of the status of the post-election efforts from the campaign and from the
RNC?

A | would say from the RNC. | guess | can't really speak to his understanding
of what was going on at the campaign. But from the RNC standpoint, while he was, you
know, our general counsel, chief counsel, my hope is he would have a full understanding
of the litigation.

Q  Was that your understanding -- so that was your hope. Was it your
understanding? Is that what you believed?

A Yeah, that was my -- my understanding. Yeah.

Mr. Steggerda. I, in what period are you referring to? Immediately after the
election? Are you talking about December? Are you talking about January?

8v vr. |

Q  Soour primary focus, Mr. Walters, is going to be from November 3rd
through early January. You could even use January 6th as a bookend. So when | talk
about "the relevant period," unless | say otherwise, I'm talking about November 3rd
through January 6th.

A Yeah, | would say that Justin had an understanding at least through
November.

Q  And why do you say through November?

A Because he took a leave of absence sometime at the end of November and

December, and our interim chief counsel, Matt Raymer, who's chief counsel now, took
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over the litigation efforts.

Q  So, at least before late November, he was -- everything you said was
applicable then, that you relied on him and he was, kind of, updating you?

A Correct.

Q  What about Jenna Kirsch? Is that someone that you interacted with?

A Not really. She was -- | know she was in the legal department. I'm sure
there are occasions where | interacted with her. But, day to day, or even week to week,
| would say no. We didn't interact often.

Q  Anddid Ms. Kirsch -- did she report to Mr. Riemer in November 20207

A | would say ultimately she did, but | don't know the reporting structure
within the department, if she had other supervisors she went through first before him.

Q Anddid you, in this time period, interface directly with outside counsel as it
related to election fraud issues?

A Not that | recall.

Q  Any other lawyers that we haven't talked about that in the post-election
period you would've been relying on for your understanding as to the state of the
post-election efforts going on across the country?

A | know -- probably Justin Clark. | wouldn't say | relied on him, but | do
recall, you know, he worked with Justin Riemer on some of the, you know, ongoing
litigation issues. But ultimately | relied on Justin and then Matt.

Q  Did you have direct conversations with Justin Clark, or were you getting info
from him through Justin Riemer?

A So, with regard to litigation, | got my information through Justin Riemer. |
did have conversations with Justin Clark about other items, because he served as the

deputy campaign manager. So there were other logistical, you know, things we would



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

14

discuss every now and then.
Q  Soyour conversations with him, is it fair to say they were political in nature,

regarding his deputy --

A Yes.

Q  -- campaign manager role?
A Right.

Q  Okay.

Now, let's switch gears a bit and talk about Kevin Zambrano. Did Kevin
Zambrano report -- he reported to you directly. Is that fair?

A Yes, that's fair.

Q  And tell us a bit about what role or responsibility you had in overseeing Mr.
Zambrano's work and what you understood that work to be.

A So my understanding of his work was to be responsible for online digital
fundraising and what we call political digital.

And as far as overseeing his work, | didn't really oversee, you know, his work day
today. Aslong as online fundraising was, you know, going on and political text
messages or political ads or whatever were going up, | didn't interface much beyond that.

My approach to Kevin, as it was to all of the directors, was to allow them to run
their own teams, and when there was a problem, | would intervene.

Q Inthe November to January period, do you recall ever intervening at all with
Kevin Zambrano's work?

A Not that | recall.

Q  Now, are you familiar with an individual named Gary Coby?

A Yes.

Q  Andwhois Gary Coby?
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A He is a consultant to the RNC.

Q  Was he also the digital director for the Trump digital team that included
TMAGAC?

A | don't know if that was his title. | know he was in a consulting role. |
don't know if he was the digital director for them.

Q Do you know how Mr. Zambrano worked with Mr. Coby? Do you know,
like, how they interacted?

A | know that they worked together on creating, you know, like, a budget for
what they thought they could raise year-in and year-out. But outside of that, you'd have
to ask them.

Q  What do you understand TMAGAC to be?

And for the reporters, T-M-A-G-A-C.

A It was the joint fundraising committee between -- well, again, | guess in just
the post-election time?

Q  Post-electiontime. Well, let's do this --

A Yeah.

Q Isitfair to say, prior to the election, TMAGAC was a joint fundraising
committee between the RNC and the Trump campaign?

A Yes.

Q  And it focused primarily on small-dollar donors who donated through either
email or text message?

A Yes. And there may have been a direct-mail component to that as well.

Q  Butit focused on small-dollar donors electronically. Is that --

A Yes.

Q --what TMAGAC is?
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A Small-dollar donors, yes.

Q Yeah.

And around November 9th, on or about, Save America PAC, the President's
leadership PAC, was added to the joint fundraising agreement, as well, that TMAGAC was
governed by. Is that accurate?

A | know it was added. |don't recall the date.

Q  Okay.

Now, | want to get a sense of your understanding as to how TMAGAC operated.
So --

A Okay.

Q  -- doyou have an understanding as to how the -- and here's what |
understand from our investigation, and you tell me whether this comports with what you
know or whether you have no idea what I'm talking about.

So we understand it that RNC copywriters, folks who were RNC employees,
worked under Austin Boedigheimer, who was a deputy digital director at the RNC, who
reported to Kevin Zambrano and also to Mr. Coby. And those copywriters drafted copy
as part of their job. That copy was then approved by individuals from both the RNC and
the Trump campaign. And then that copy was then sent out to the public.

That money comes back into TMAGAC as a joint fundraising committee. And
then that money is, after expenses are paid, disbursed to the RNC and the Trump
campaign as pursuant to whatever agreement is operative at that time for how to split
those proceeds.

Is that all fair and accurate?

A | would not say that's all accurate, no.

Q  Sotell me about it in your words.
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A So the RNC staff that you referenced would create copy for RNC text
messages, RNC-only, RNC-specific text messages and emails, as well as TMAGAC text
messages and emails. But the Trump campaign staff also had individuals creating, from
my understanding, content for TMAGAC as well.

| also wouldn't say that those staff were responsible for reporting to Gary Coby.
You know, if -- that's not something | would have approved. |don't have RNC staff
report to outside consultants. Just in general practice -- it doesn't matter to me, you
know, if it's digital, political; | don't care -- staff reports to staff and not to outside
consultants.

Q  Now, both public reporting and numerous individuals we've spoken to do
not label Mr. Coby as a consultant the way you do. They label him as the digital director
of the Trump digital machine.

So are you saying that your view of his role -- understanding he has his own
companies that interface with the RNC and with the campaign, public reporting and
multiple individuals we spoke to said he was the digital director, end of the day, Gary
Coby was the boss of the 2020 Presidential cycle digital team that the RNC and the
campaign relied on for the purposes of the Presidential election.

Is it your view that that's incorrect?

A It's my view that | would -- Gary very well may have done that on behalf of
the Trump campaign, and he was definitely involved with the RNC aspect as well, like |
said, as a consultant, but he was not in charge of my staff.

| would not -- and, look, that's as far as | know, right? If Kevin and him worked
something else out that | am unaware of, | guess that's a different story. But | would not

have had staff report to an outside consultant.

BY Ms
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Q  So maybe it would help to say, when you're saying "report," there's kind of
like the manager role, right? Somebody who approves time cards, approves vacations.
It's our understanding that that would've been Mr. Zambrano, right? Because he was, in
fact, who they reported to at their place of employment as RNC employees. Fair?

A Fair.

Q  But for the purposes of content or for the purposes of, kind of, substantively
what they were doing, in terms of the work product that they were producing, our
understanding was that that was largely approved, reviewed, and driven by Mr. Coby, not
by Mr. Zambrano.

A If that's what they worked out, that is not -- that is news to me. | guess --

Q Okay. So--

A Again, | know that Gary was involved in it, but as far as who drove it on
behalf of the RNC, | would've expected Kevin, the digital director, to take the lead on that.

And if he worked with Gary, that's great. | agree that probably did happen, that
he worked with him, because he was a consultant to us. But --

Q  Soljust want to be --

A -- as far as, like, the master of strategy, | would -- if -- go ahead. [I'm sorry.

Q No, no. |justwantto be clear, was it your understanding from
Mr. Zambrano that he was supervising them when it came to, like, the content of their
work and what they were doing?

A Look, | don't recall a specific conversation where Kevin said that "l am
supervising them and their work and what they're doing." But, you know, do | expect
my comms director to supervise, you know, her staff, or my finance director to supervise
her staff, or whatever? Yes. That's my understanding in general when it comes to

directors and their teams, that they're supervising them, and not an outside consultant.
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Q  Okay. That's helpful clarification-wise. Thank you.
sy MR. I

Q  And are you familiar with who Austin Boedigheimer is, the deputy digital
director?

A Yes.

Q  And what did you understand his role to be? We've been told he oversaw
the email and text fundraising team. |s that what you understood him to do?

A | -- Idon't know. Again, my management approach, very much so, was to
hire competent directors to assemble teams to get the job done. And if that is what
Kevin hired Austin to do and that's what they agreed to do, then great, but | can't say for
certainty that | understood that's what his exact role was.

Q  Sois it fair to say that, when it came to the digital efforts, that you just were
not involved? Is that a characterization that is accurate? Or how would you frame it?

A Well, | think there are multiple aspects of the digital effort. If we're talking
about, you know, a digital spend on prospecting, if we're talking about political ads
targeting, you know, a Democrat or supporting a Republican, you know, very broadly |
would've been involved in those discussions. But, like, the minutia of content and, you
know, day-to-day reporting, no, | would not have been involved in that.

Q  Well, | guess when you say "the minutia of content” -- as we understand it, in
2020, digital fundraising was absolutely critical and fundamental to the fundraising efforts
of both the RNC and the Trump campaign. Is that fair?

A | would say it was absolutely critical to the Trump campaign. The RNC
fundraising, it was critical to us as well, but we had our own separate operation that |
relied on more so than TMAGAC.

Q  And what was that operation?
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A RNC digital fundraising, like, RNC only, RNC specific, outside of TMAGAC, that
had to do with the campaign.

Q  And who was head of that enterprise?

A That also fell under Kevin.

Q  And do you know who worked on that, which copywriters, who drafted

A Yeah, | couldn't --

Q  -- on that critical part of the RNC?

A | couldn't tell you the names of the copywriters who worked on that or,
quite frankly, really, any staff below the deputy level in any department.

Q  Allright. So who was the deputy working on that side?

A So Austin was the deputy digital director. And, again, if Kevin and Austin
came up with a team to focus just on RNC fundraising -- which they did, because we had
RNC-specific-only fundraising -- you know, you would have to ask them as to who they
assigned to that.

Q  Okay. Soisitfairto say that what happened below Austin you don't have
any direct knowledge of?

A Yeah. | mean, | may have some peripheral knowledge of, you know, like |
said, if we're -- if they are creating targeted political ads in a State, you know, sure, |
would know that that's happening. But that doesn't necessarily mean | know the
content of those ads.

Q  Well, I'm asking you something just a little bit more broadly, is that --

A Okay.

Q - TMAGAC raises hundreds upon hundreds of millions of dollars for the RNC

and the Trump campaign. And that's even pre-election, obviously. And then,
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post-election, TMAGAC raises several hundreds of millions more, post-election.

And what I'm trying to get a sense of is: That enterprise that -- from all accounts
that we've heard from people who worked at the campaign, who worked at the RNC, and
from third parties, they saw the TMAGAC effort as incredibly successful both pre-election
and post-election and as a part of the enterprise that really pulled its own weight and
worked out well.

So I'm trying to get a sense: That TMAGAC enterprise, is that fair -- would you
say that you were not involved with that?

I'm trying to get a sense -- because what | don't want to do, Mr. Walters, is spend
a morning asking you questions of things where this is just -- someone else, you know,
either got it right or got it wrong but it wasn't you.

So tell us a bit -- with TMAGAC, is that outside of your wheelhouse?

A Yeah. |mean, for alarge part, it is, you know?

Just to give an example, in 2019 -- | don't remember our exact raise in 2019 in
TMAGAC, but, you know, let's say it was $100 million gross. The RNC portion of that
would've been 525 million before expenses. After expenses, you know, the net would
probably be somewhere between $12 million and $15 million. And when our raise that
year is $200-or-so million, that's a very small portion of what my revenue stream is.

Q Yeah. Okay. Well, we're going to come to some of that, Mr. Walters --

A Okay.

Q  -- and kind of talk about what role TMAGAC played.

But as far as the process by which content was either decided or created, did
you ever -- were you involved in that process or knew how it worked?

So, if I'm looking at emails, and, you know, there are hundreds of emails that go

out post-election, do you have any involvement or awareness as to what's going on,
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either on the back end where you are helping with the process or, | guess, at the front
end -- or at the back end where you're getting the emails? Are you aware of that at all?

A Yeah, so | -- | was not involved in the process unless | was asked to be
involved, if there was a dispute or something between department directors.

So, you know, there was an approval process, approval chain, that different
individuals gave sign-off on for content. | was, you know, on that chain. But|don't
recall ever -- you know, | never engaged with it unless | was asked. | just -- there was so
much other stuff going on that was a lot more pressing and important.

Q  Now, when you say you were on the chain, you're talking about -- that's the
chain | referenced where, after copy is drafted, it's submitted to the approval chain for
both the campaign and the RNC to be reviewed and approved before it's published. Is
that what you're discussing?

A Correct.

Q  Andyou're saying --

Mr. Steggerda. Well -- and,- just to clear the record --

vr. | R ok

Mr. Steggerda. Can we just be clear in terms of, when you say "approval chain,"
do you mean your name's on an email with tons of other people --

Mr. Walters. Right.

Mr. Steggerda. -- oris it actually the specific smaller group that actually signed
off?

Mr. Walters. |don't --

Mr. Steggerda. [l heard from a lot of different witnesses --

Mr. Walters. Sure.

Mr. Steggerda. -- how it works, so | don't want to confuse the two things.
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Mr. Walters. Yeah. Soit'salistserve. |don't know the exact number of
people onit. |would probably say at least 20, but very well could've been more than
that, between the two entities.

And, again, it was more of an FYl on my end unless | was asked to engage. But,
you know, | don't even recall reading the emails when they came through.

sy MR

Q Now, let's go back to -- so, leading to election day, there is the
litigation -- various litigation efforts that you were referencing.

And, Mr. Walters, what I'm going to try to parse out today is drawing the
distinction between fraud and the processes that are in place in States to prevent fraud,
versus evidence of actual fraud. And | want to get your understanding of those two
distinct ideas. Is that fair?

A Sure.

Q Allright.

So, going into election day, did you have discussions regarding the expectation
that there would be fraud that could be dispositive leading into election day? Did you
have any discussions with anyone about -- and I'm not asking you to tell me something
your counsel told you, if that's the case. But tell me more, if you had any discussions
regarding that.

A | mean, yes, but it would go into -- involve conversations with counsel.

Q  Okay. Solet me ask you a different question. On election day, did you
have an expectation that there would be an effort by the Democratic Party to engage in
coordinated fraud?

A Again, | think this goes to -- depends on how you define it. | think my view

is, you had Democrats change laws all throughout the country that created mass
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confusion that opened the door for fraud.

| mean, we've seen video of, you know, multiple ballots being deposited in
dropboxes in Georgia where ballot harvesting's illegal. Now, I'm not saying that those
ballots were cast for a Republican or Democrat, but the fact of the matter is, it's illegal.

Q  Allright, soI'm going to stop you.

But what I'm asking you, again -- I'm not asking you about process. |I'm asking
you whether the Democratic Party, as a political party, was going to be engaged in
coordinated fraud, not changing the laws to permit mail-in ballots, because | think, if you
agree with my framing, that may be a question about legitimate process and what's
legitimate or not, versus actual fraud, which I'm going to define as someone either
illegally voting or otherwise trying subvert the will of the people, right?

So did you have an expectation that Democrats -- on election day, have the
expectation that Democrats would engage in coordinated fraud?

A Am | aware of a Democrat saying out loud on national television that they
were going to commit fraud on election day? No.

Do | believe that Democrats used COVID -- and | understand you want to separate
them, but | really don't think you can. Do | think that they used the process to allow for
an environment for fraud to happen? Absolutely.

BY M.l

Q | just want to follow up on that for a moment.

A Sure.

Q  Sitting here today, it is your belief that the Democratic Party would
encourage and endorse voter fraud, would be fine with dead people voting, would be fine
with illegal voting procedures? It's your position that the Democratic Party was

encouraging or creating the circumstances to encourage actual illegal voter fraud?
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A It's my position that they created an environment that allowed it.

Q No, no, that's not what I'm --

A Hold on. Let me -- "encourage" is your word, not mine. So they created
an environment that allowed it. | didn't say they encouraged it. They created an
environment that allowed it.

And, as far as today goes, | would say you still see it. You see it in Georgia, where
you have Democrats screaming at the top of their lungs that an election integrity bill
creates voter suppression, when, actually -- the results are in from last night -- you had
more minorities voting in the State of Georgia than ever before.

Q  Wait, wait, wait. | understand --

A | do--

Q | understand -- Mr. Walters, | don't want to interrupt you.

The stock market is an environment that creates an opportunity for fraud.
Financial planners is a career that creates an opportunity for fraud. The difference here
is intent.

Is it your position that the Democratic Party intended to increase voter fraud in
the changes that they made to the voting laws, that they intended voter fraud?

A Again, you're continuing to use words that | did not use. So my position is,
the Democratic Party created an environment where fraud could exist. Whether they
intended it -- which, again, is your word, not mine -- | don't know. But what we do know
is that an environment was ripe for it.

Q | guess what I'm askingis: Voter fraud existed -- when you created voting,
you created the environment that could lead to voter fraud, correct?

A Correct. And when you remove voting safeguards, you make it even more

so where the environment is ripe for voter fraud, which is what we saw.
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Q  Anddid you think that, in the removal of these safeguards, the intent of the
Democratic Party was to enable fraud?

A | do believe that, in mailing out multiple ballots to people, people receiving
multiple ballots to individuals, for States not purging voter roles, not purging voter lists,
and people receiving ballots where they haven't lived in decades, created an environment
for fraud. Yes, | do believe that.

And | understand your question on intent. Did a Democrat say out loud that this
is my intent? No, not that | know of. | don't know that to be the case. Butldon't
think that they had to.

sy MR |

Q  Well, here's the problem | have -- and, Mr. Walters, we are honestly trying to
make this an expedited process today, so we're going to try to cut to the chase.

A Sure.

Q  We're going to draw big distinctions here, because what we want to
understand is what the RNC's positions were and what the RNC's knowledge was at the
time. Right? And we're going to understand that through you.

We can go State by State if that's easier for you, and you can explain to us, State
by State, each battleground State, what your belief was as to -- because right now we're
making very general claims about someone getting mail from decades ago, and that is
what | do not wantto do. | want you to be as precise as possible.

If you have beliefs that are based on specific States, specific legal changes, that
you think are evidence of fraud or evidence of Democrats engaging in fraud, we want to
know that.

But what we see is that RNC individuals, multiple, again and again draft

fundraising emails that go to millions of people that are not nuanced, that say that
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Democrats are trying to steal this election.

And you, as the deputy to the chairman, | want to understand what you -- your
understanding as to whether those statements were true and, if they were true, what
you're basing it on.

A So, since you asked for an example, I'm happy to give you one.

In the State of Michigan, there was an election worker who said publicly that she
was intimidated by her Democrat boss into counting ballots after they were received
after election day. A whistleblower report was filed in, | believe it was the Eastern
District, in court in Michigan because of that exact thing happening.

So, again, you're asking, is that fraud? Well, our position is that if you're
counting ballots in after election day, that, yes, that is fraud. And so you asked for an
example; there is an example.

Q  Okay. And if you have more precise -- because we can -- we can get it on
the break, because | would love to talk about an example with you. Because what we've

seen --

Mr. Steggerda. But, |
vr. . Ve

Mr. Steggerda. --_. | mean, he's not here, you know, to lay out the

entire legal case across 50 States about the instances of fraud.

He's told you three times already how he viewed it, that his concerns he
had -- that stemmed and is reflected by months of RNC litigation about the procedures.
He described for you how he was concerned about safeguards. He laid out some
instances he's aware of that were actual fraud and he thinks that the system allowed for
given the change of the rules. He's said he can't, you know, allege what the Democratic

intent was.
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But | would ask that we bring it back to his role in the approval process.

- . e -

Mr. Steggerda. |think he's explained pretty adequately what --

Mr. _ And, Todd, that's exactly what I'm going to do.

Mr. Steggerda. But | want -- he's explained to you how he viewed the process.
And, now, if we can go back to his relatively minor role in actually approving these
things --

Ms.- Well, just --

Mr. Steggerda. -- which | think is the -- which is the relevant part of the
interview.

Ms. . 'tis, Todd, but | will say this.

And, Mr. Walters, you correct me if I'm wrong.

There have been individuals we spoke to who said, "l may have drafted the copy
that said "the liberal mob was trying to steal the election,’ but | took that from the
candidate. | might not have shared those personal beliefs."

A moment ago, it actually sounds like you would not disagree with the statement
that "the liberal mob was trying to steal the election."

And let me be clear, it is not our place to judge your views. What we are trying
to get is, if you believed that that statement was true, it would impact your view of those
emails, the way that somebody who thought it was false, it would impact their reaction to
the emails.

So, if | showed you an email that said "the liberal mob is trying to steal this
Presidential election" -- correct me if I'm wrong -- | got the impression would you not
disagree with that. And that's fine. We were trying to get your position as to whether

a statement like that, to you, seemed true.
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Mr. Walters. Okay. Well, | will respond and correct you, because you are
wrong. Not once did | say that, and | apologize if that was your interpretation.

What | said was, Democrats used COVID as a way to change election laws
throughout the country, which created confusion and allowed for an atmosphere that
could have led to fraud.

| did not refer to a mob, did not say the mob was stealing an election. Those
words never came out of my mouth, number one.

Number two, it's hard to say that | would be okay with the emails because, as I've
already previously stated, | very rarely read them, if at all. | don't recall ever reading
them unless | was asked to engage.

sv vr. G

Q  Solet me askyou this. The approvals team. Who did you understand to
be on the approvals chain from the RNC and what role they served?

A So, | don't know everyone who was on the chain. There were multiple
folks. But --

Q  Let'sstart with the people that are actually, like, critical, the people who you
think were actively engaged and matter in the chain. Who were those people?

A There's someone from the counsel's office, someone from the
communications team, and someone from the research team.

Q  Andyousaid -- so legal, comms, and research.

A Yes.

Q Okay. Sowho were those people by name, post-election period?

A Again, | can't speak to exactly who. | know Justin Riemer could have been
involved, but, again, he had other attorneys in his office he could've asked to do it.

Michael Ahrens or Michael Reed, they were the comms directors. They could've
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approved it or could've had someone else in their office do it.

As far as the research team goes, the research director, he could've done it or
could've had someone on his team do it.

So | don't want to assign a name to it, because | don't know for sure.

Q  And what did you understand legal's job to be in reviewing fundraising
emails?

A That if an email was going out about a court case or where we were
intervening somewhere, that it was -- that the text was correct.

Q  What if the text had said something that was legally problematic? Would it
be legal's job to catch that?

A Yeah, | mean, | would expect the counsel's office to decide if something was
legally problematic that couldn't go out, or that shouldn't go out.

Q  Allright. Sois it fair to say the two things we've covered are, one, they
would catch things that were legally problematic, that was for some reason not
permissible to say or, you know, they advised against saying or, two, correcting that any
representations made regarding ongoing litigation was accurate? |Is that --

A Correct.

Q  Anything in addition to those two things that you understood them to be
doing?

A Not that | recall.

Q  What about comms? What was their role?

A That the content going out was, you know, correct in message, right? It
was on message with what was in the news that day, what was going on that day,
relevant to the, you know, to the conversation, | guess.

Q  Okay.
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And then what was research's role?

A So, if an email contained, you know, like, facts and figures, right, like, that
they were correct. Like, if the email said that, you know, we received X amount of votes
in a State, that that number was correct, or that election day is on Tuesday, you know,
November 3rd, that that's correct.

Q  Okay. Thankyou for that.

So let's go to election day. Where did you watch the results?

A The Four Seasons.

Q  And who were you with?

A The RNC team, senior staff, which included their directors and deputies, and
then some folks from the data team.

Q  And were you there through the evening?

A | was.

Q  Andthrough early morning?

A Yeah. |think | left at, like, 11:00 a.m. or something like that.

Q  Okay.

Now, on the day of election day, did you have any conversations -- or leading up
to election day -- any conversations about preparing -- the preparing of copy to be
sent -- to be approved for the post-election period, fundraising copy for email or text?

A No, not that | recall.

Q Do yourecall being on any approval chains that went out about approving
copy leading up to post-election publishing?

A | don't recall being on any approval chains.

Mr. Steggerda. Are you talking about TMAGAC --
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Mr. Steggerda. - emails P

Mr. Walters. Yeah, | don't recall being on -- again, that doesn't mean that |
wasn't. That doesn't mean that an email wasn't sent. But, again, like, | didn't really
engage unless | was asked. So |l don't recall being on an email chain, but, you know --

sy MR. I

Q  Did you have any discussions leading into election day about TMAGAC
continuing fundraising after election day?

A With regard to what, specifically?

Q TMAGAC, in fact, does continue, obviously, to fundraise after election day.

And our --
A Right.
Q  --understanding is that that kind of decision would've required approval or a

directive from someone senior. People we've spoken to who are not senior say that
they didn't make the decision to continue fundraising, someone senior had to make that
decision.

So are you aware of any such decisions coming from the RNC? And were you
involved with it, if so?

A I'm not aware of a decision. And, to be honest with you, that's not how |
would view that, generally. So --

Ms.. What do you mean?

Mr. Walters. So digital fundraising in the way | viewed it is, if, you know, we
won, there would be fundraising on winning; if there was a recount, there would be
fundraising on a recount. | mean, it's hard to plan, in my view, pre-election-day, before

you know what's happening, what the content would be.
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Mr. _ So, if we told you that we have received evidence that the

TMAGAC team did plan for what the content would be, would that be surprising to you?

Mr. Walters. It would be.

Mr. Steggerda. Do you remember if you've had any role in any TMAGAC
preplanning about what the message would be post-election?

Mr. Walters. 1don't -- no, | don't recall that.

Ms.‘ Do you have any idea, sitting here today -- | understand you said
earlier you had a higher-level position in terms of not necessarily supervising the
day-to-day work of Zambrano or his direct reports.

But, sitting here today, do you have any concept of the themes or messages of the
fundraising that took place just before the election, leading up to January 6th?

Mr. Walters. Just before the election or leading -- are those two separate
guestions or all -- I'm sorry. Do you mind clarifying?

Mr. Steggerda. Well, let me --

Ms.- Just, are you aware --

Mr. Steggerda. |cantry --
Ms.- No, it's okay, Todd.

Mr. Steggerda. Go ahead.
BY MS. I
Q  Are you aware of any of the themes or messages that were being used in the
fundraising emails coming from TMAGAC just before the election and through up and
until January 6th?
A | mean, | would imagine that the theme or message before election day was,
you have to get out and vote.

And then, post-election, | know we had recounts going on. We had Georgia,
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where we had a runoff for two Senate seats that we were trying to mobilize staff to go
down there for, which was a large focus for me at the time, and we were fundraising for
that.

| mean, | guess, if that answers your question, that's, like, my general awareness.

Q  Well, it does to a certain extent, in that | don't believe | remember seeing a
fundraising email that actually encouraged people to go out and vote as opposed to
donate. So maybe I'm conflating those in a way. But it sounded like you were saying
you thought fundraising emails would encourage people to go out and vote. | definitely
remember seeing, obviously, the election being important.

But let me make this even easier. Post-election, after voting was no longer an
option, do you know what the large, common themes of the fundraising emails were
between the election and January 6th?

A Yeah. Well, so just to address the first part, | guess | give our donors
enough credit to know that, if we're saying the election is important, that they should go
out and vote.

But with regard to post-election, | don't -- like | said, we were fundraising for
Georgia, for sure, and the runoffs. We had two Senate runoffs there on January 5th,
and so we were very much still focused on that. We had recounts going on in different
States throughout the country. So | imagine that the content was, you know, around
that as well.

Q | doremember emails that were raising funds for Georgia. | believe 60 or
70 percent of that went to Save America, the President's PAC. Were you aware of that?

A | don't recall what the breakdown was.

Q  Were you aware that little to no money that was raised to help Georgia from

those emails from the President's PAC actually went to any representative runningin
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Georgia?

A Well, | can't speak to how the President's team spent their money, but | can
say, as far as the RNC goes, we spent a significant amount of money, multimillion dollars,
in Georgia.

Q  Onething | want to just -- | want to bring it back, Mr. Walters. When you
say you "would imagine" with the content, sitting here today, are you aware of what the

TMAGAC emails focused on from election day forward?
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[11:05 a.m.]

Mr. Walters. |am aware to -- at the time -- or -- | am aware to the extent of
what has been, you know, reported out.

Is that -- | don't know if that's --

Mr. Steggerda. That's spam.

Mr. Walters. Okay.

Mr. Steggerda. He's trying to place -- like, if you've seen some of the press or
seen some of these emails recently --

Mr. Walters. Right.

Mr. Steggerda. -- he's trying to distinguish, and | think Amanda was trying to do
the same thing. Back at the time, what awareness did you have of the -- the messaging
that was going out from TMAGAC, you know, generally, specifically?

Mr. Walters. Right. So, look, like | said, at the time, my understanding was the
general awareness was regarding Georgia recounts, votes still being counted, you know,
ongoing litigation. As we sit here today, to the point Todd just made, like, was -- have |
seen press reports about, you know, different things that have come out. Have -- you
know, different things that the committee has put out, | have. But, again --

Mr._ What's your understanding now from those reports?
Does that change your understanding of what the emails were about?

Mr. Walters. A little bit. You know, the -- some of the emails were
about -- about continuing to -- to make sure every vote's counted and to continue our
litigation efforts and, you know, continue moving forward.

Mr._ Mr. Walters, respectfully, that's wrong. And | need to

understand that you don't have an understanding or you do, because what you're saying
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is incorrect. The emails widely reported, and anyone reading the emails can see, they
are heavily focused on claims of election fraud, right. We have messages from RNC
individuals who indicate on the day of the election that they have preapproved emails
regarding trying to steal the election. So | think your framing is just factually incorrect.
So | am going to push back on that.

And what | want to understand from you, Mr. Walters, is that, were you aware at
the time that TMAGAC was focused on sending emails indicating that election theft was
going on at the hands of Democrats? Is that something you were aware of in November
2020 or you were not aware of that?

Mr. Walters. So I'm going to push back on you. | completely disagree with your
framing and how you just laid that out. And that | believe, like | said, the messages were
about ongoing, you know, litigation and about continuing to fight for every -- every ballot
being counted, continuing to -- to move forward to fight against fraud. | mean, those
are very much so from what | understand and what I've read --

BY MS. IR

Q  Mr. Walters, let me ask you something.

A Sure.

Q  Have you sat and read the emails?

A Not -- not really, no. I've -- I've seen a couple, but | have not -- | mean, have
| sat and read 600 emails? No.

Q No, no. But here's the thing, we have.

A Okay.

Q  Sothisis why | am -- we are not sitting here expecting you to have read 600
emails, especially when you said that you supervised somebody whose job that

presumably was. My colleague is sitting here telling you, factually, we've read those
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emails; factually, we've done analysis on these emails; factually, we've read reports that
others have done on the analysis of those emails. There are things that are facts. If
you don't know that, that's fine.

But when we tell you the facts of what is in those emails, because they were in
fact sent and they are capable of being read and analyzed, and you push back and say, no,
you are wrong, and then | ask you, have you read and analyzed the emails, and your
answer is no, do you see where that is disconcerting from an inconsistent definition of the
use of facts?

A | said | have not read 600 emails is what | said. |said | have read some of
them. And | will go back to what I've been saying all along. | do believe that there was
abuse of Democrat power throughout the country to change election laws, which created
confusion among voters, throughout the country hands down, which created an
environment for fraud.

And | do believe that the emails that were sent out fundraising for Georgia -- you
yourself just admitted that those emails do exist -- fundraising for Georgia, talking about
ongoing litigation that we have. | know | have seen emails stating the ongoing litigation
we have. Solfeel like, while we're sitting here and you're telling me those emails don't
exist, it's a little bit of gaslighting because | know | have seen them.

Q  Mr. Walters, I'm going to actually read you the email that I'm talking about
for a moment, because --

A That's great. If you have a specific email you're referencing, that's one
thing. But there are 600 or so plus emails. So if you want me to sit here and stipulate
that none of the emails say what | have said, I'm not going to do that, because | disagree.

Q No, no. |totallyunderstand. What I'm saying is the email that | told you

about was an email that was purportedly from Eric Trump -- a surrogate -- and it was sent
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on December 12th, 2020.

A Okay.

Q  And it talked about the election in Georgia. It stated in the same email,
Make no mistake, the leftwing mob is already trying to, underline, steal the Presidency,
and now they're trying to attempt to, underline, steal the Senate too.

So I'm not disputing your characterization that there may have been other things,
because it would be boring to just say they're stealing the election, election fraud for
perhaps 600 emails in the time post-election leading up to January 6th. Did they
sprinkle other things in? Was there a hat given away in the course of election fraud
messaging? Probably. [|'m not going to disagree with you about that.

But the point my colleague was trying to make that we were surprised you're
pushing back on is that data and evidence shows that the single common theme amongst
all of these emails post-election leading up to January 6th is the Democrats are trying to
steal the election and there was election fraud and the Presidency was stolen. And you
pushing back on that was surprising to us because it didn't seem to be based on data or
facts. That's all we were trying to say.

A Sure. I'm not pushing back on -- | -- again, | don't -- | feel like we
are -- you're mischaracterizing what | am saying. And so, | will say it, outline it once
more.

Election laws were changed throughout the country by Democratic Governors
using their emergency powers because of COVID, which created mass confusion among
the electorates. Okay? Take that, couple it with people not knowing when to vote,
how to vote, election ballot security safeguards being removed creates an environment
for fraud, which according to you is what the emails stipulate. |agree that an

environment was ripe for fraud and there could have been emails that stated that.
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As far as what Eric Trump said in an email, you would have to ask him. [don't
know.

Q | --first of all, Eric Trump did not say that. It was the RNC copywriters who
drafted it. But second of all --

A | thought you said Eric Trump sent it.

Q No, no. You know how they send the emails from surrogates and they say
Eric Trump is sending it, but it is the copywriters who draft it and then it purports to be
from Eric Trump, Lara Trump, surrogates of the campaign.

Mr. Steggerda. -, are you just trying -- are you trying to ask him whether

at the time he had an awareness of the kind of the general theme --

Ms.-_. | was.

Mr. Steggerda. --in some of these emails about Dems trying to steal the
election, whether he has some general awareness of that?

Ms- | was.

Mr. Steggerda. Is that really the --

Ms- Todd, | actually think Mr. Walters understood the question.

sy s .

Q  And what's interesting to me is that your answer is an understandable
answer in the sense that it reflects nuance, because | don't think sitting here today you
would look at us and say, the Democrats were trying to steal the election. |don't think
you would say that. What you said was a very nuanced explanation for your concerns of
changes in laws that created an environment for fraud.

And what I'm asking is, is do you remember ever seeing a single email that
explained it in the intelligent nuanced way you just portrayed it? Because we've read

600, and what they say is the Democrats and the Liberal elites are trying to steal the
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election. They hateyou. Let me repeat thatone. They hate you.

Is that consistent with your very nuanced intelligent description?

A | mean, | would say there have been multiple instances of Democrats
publicly saying they don't like Republicans and that they, you know, hate Republicans.

Q I'mnot-- Mr. Walters --

A | mean, so, yeah, | do think that --

Q  Mr. Walters, I'm not asking for --

A -- Democrats hate Republicans.

Q I'm not asking for a whataboutism. A moment ago you gave a very
intellectually based explanation for a change in laws that could create an environment of
fraud. And what I'm asking you is, do you think that's consistent with the messaging
continuously post-election leading up to January 6th that Democrats hate you, they're
trying to steal the election, and the Liberal mob is trying to steal your vote? Isthat
consistent?

A The messaging that | just mentioned is consistent with what the RNC
messaging was and what the RNC put out. If the TMAGAC messages that you are
referencing, which, again, | have not reviewed all 600, is not -- | -- I'm sorry, | cannot say if
it's consistent with that. I'll take you at your word. [fit's not consistent with that, | am
not aware. Again, | was involved in approving the emails. | wasn't involved in that
process.

Q  Have youreviewed a sampling? Have you reviewed any of them, the
TMAGAC emails?

A | just stated that | had, I'd seen a couple of them.

Mr. Steggerda. | would say, you know, what emails | showed him | think are

protected. He hassaid he's seen some. |'m talking about this process. You know,
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back in the day, he doesn't remember seeing them, as he's testified to.

Mr._ Mr. Walters, I'm going show you what's been marked as
exhibit 21.

Mr. Walters. Okay.

Mr._ And what we want to understand, Mr. Walters, is -

Mr. Steggerda. Do you wantto --I'm sorry. Can we take a break? You know,
we've been going for an hour and 15.

Msll. s there any chance -- Todd, is there any chance we could push
forward a little bit, because we actually, we're going to have to take a break at about
11:45, 11:50-ish anyway. So if you can power through just maybe 30 minutes more.

Mr. Steggerda. Well, | would -- | would, you know --

Mr. Walters. | actually really need to use the restroom.

Mr. Steggerda. |think an hour 45 is just too long with -- | mean, we're -- | think
we need a short one.

Ms.- That's fair.

Mr. Steggerda. Maybe 3 minutes, 3 minutes.

Mr. . Vel sive you 4, Todd.

Mr. Steggerda. Okay. Thanks.

Mr. _ We'llseeyou all in 5. All right.

[Recess.]
By MR
Q  Mr. Walters, | want to bring it back to your role overseeing Kevin Zambrano's
work --
A Okay.

Q  --just so we have aclearrecord. Isitaccurate that you were on the
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approval email listserv but you do not actively engage on a day-to-day basis unless asked
to? Is that fair?

A To -- yeah, to the best of my knowledge, yes.

Q  And with regard to the substance and the content that went out on TMAGAC
emails post-election, you did not direct that in any way. Is that accurate?

A Yeah, to the best of my knowledge it's accurate.

Q  And asfaras the post-election content that was created for the TMAGAC
emails, were you aware at the time as to the general substance of those emails?

A | don't recall being aware. Well, | mean, again, let me -- | should rephrase.
Generally, | knew they were talking about Georgia, fundraising in Georgia. | knew
generally there were conversations about recounts, but, | mean, again, that's very
general. Outside of that, | don't recall being involved in the conversations about the
content.

Q  How did you know they were talking about Georgia?

A Well, because we had -- | don't know how much | can go into this, but
strategy meetings about sending staff to Georgia, about mobilizing the folks to give, to
help support the -- to help support the runoffs. Is there a way to donor call a couple of
days after the elections specifically about Georgia to get folks to engage and to give.
Because, like | said, the RNC spent many, many millions of dollars in Georgia staff and
transportation and accommodations and whatnot.

Q  Sois it your understanding that the Georgia runoffs were a prominent topic
in the post-election TMAGAC emails?

A Again, | don't know the complete content of all 600 emails and what was
most prominent versus what wasn't. | just know that it was a topic.

Q  Okay. Sovyou know it was mentioned. You have no concept as to the
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frequency?

A Correct.

Q  Isthat fair?

A That's fair.

Q  Okay. |wanttoshow you what's been marked as government exhibit -- as
exhibit 21.

A Okay. Okay.

Ms.-_. Congressional government.

Mr. . Lecislative government exhibit 21.

Mr. Steggerda. Yeah.

Mr._ -, can you pull that over a bit, please.

Now, this is an email that went out on November 4th. And it says hereit's a
TMAGAC email. This was drafted by copywriters that worked for the RNC.  And it says,
Wow, we are winning like no one thought possible right now. Despite the numbers that
were very obviously in favor of your President, the Democrats will try to steal this
election.

And then in the second -- in the third full paragraph it says, We can't allow the
leftwing mob to undermine our election.

Is this -- were you aware that emails like this were going out the day after the
election at the time?

Mr. Steggerda. --- before you answer that -- can you scroll down? | just
want to see -- | just want to make sure this is a TMAGAC one. And is this a surrogate
one?

Mr_ It's from President Trump himself and it's a TMAGAC. |t

says it is paid for by the Trump Make America Great Again Committee.
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Mr. Steggerda. Okay.

Mr_ So this is RNC copy.

Mr. Walters. Soit's TMAGAC copy, it's not RNC copy.

Mr._ Okay. Now, when you say -- | understand it goes out for
TMAGAUC, but I'm going to tell you it was drafted by RNC individuals. Do you dispute
that?

Mr. Walters. |don't know who it was drafted by. But | do know that both
Trump campaign and RNC had individuals working on TMAGAC copy.

Mr. Walters. | don't know who actually wrote this copy, though.

Mr._ Okay. Mr. Walters, though, and | want to parse out

between things you know versus things you're guessing, because | want the record to be

clear.

Mr. Steggerda. Wel I

Mr._ Hold on, hold on, hold. Let me ask my question.

Mr. Steggerda. Wait. You said it's RNC copy.

Mr_ Let me --

Mr. Steggerda. And he says not technically, and then you dump on him because
he's just --

Mr._ I'm not dumping on him, Todd. ['ve asked him -- Todd,

he's not a child. He can --I'm not dumping on him. | want the record to be clear.
When you say it's not RNC copy, I'm not suggesting this is going out on behalf of

the RNC. It very clearly states it's for President Trump. Now, you've seen the

disclaimer at the bottom that says it's for the joint fundraising committee. Right,

Mr. Walters?
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Mr. Walters. VYes.

Mr_ Do you dispute that RNC copywriters were drafting the
copy for TMAGAC?

Mr. Walters. No, | don't dispute that. Like I've said multiple times, both RNC
staff and Trump campaign staff draft -- drafted copyright for the -- for the JFA. But to
say that this is RNC copy is a false categorization.

sy ms |l
Q  Mr. Walters, you're the first individual, | believe, that has stated that there

were individuals separate from the RNC copywriters who wrote copy for TMAGAC emails.

This is why --
A Okay.
Q - we very much want to get from you, what is your basis for that? Do you

know those individuals? You are literally the first person to state that. So we are
trying to figure out, is that in fact true, because nobody else is aware of an individual who
drafted copy for TMAGAC emails who wasn't an RNC employee.

A Sure. So my understanding was how the JFA works, it's part Trump, part
RNC. And my understanding was staff from both the campaign and the RNC were
involved with the JFA, were involved with copy, were involved with ads. That was my
understanding.

Q  And |l understand that when you say my understanding is this is the concept
of the JFA, we would split responsibilities, things were supposed to be shared, |
completely understand that.

What we are trying to pin down is, sitting here today, do you actually know or
have any evidence of the existence of an individual who drafted copy for TMAGAC emails

who was not employed by the RNC?
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A | mean -- I don't. But | also can't contend that this was drafted by RNC
staff. Again, | don't know who -- who drafted the email. Again, my understanding was
that both individuals from the campaign and the RNC were sharing responsibilities in
drafting the emails and all responsibilities regarding the JFA.

Q  Andltotally understand that. The only point we were trying to make to
you, understanding that your level is up here, and we've talked to everyone largely
involved below you, is there's not a single other individual who has said that a non-RNC
staff member wrote copy for TMAGAC emails. So that's why, if you have actual
evidence of that, that would be super relevant.

What I'm understanding you to say is you don't have evidence either way. Your
understanding was the JFA worked a certain way, there could be, there might not be.

A Right.

Q  But you don't actually know.

A Correct.

Mr. Steggerda. That's right.

Ms.- Okay. So when we represent, because we have interviewed some
other people, when we represent that certain emails were drafted by RNC copywriters on
behalf of TMAGAC, understand it's because we have interviewed other people and have
gotten evidence from elsewhere that you might not have.

Mr. Walters. And that's totally fine. That still doesn't change that this is not
RNC copy. And,-, that's how you referred to it and it's just not. It's TMAGAC copy,
because RNC copy was separate for RNC-specific emails. And I'll still contend that my
understanding was that staff from both entities worked on copy for emails.

Mr. Steggerda. | --1think, just to clarify, just -- | think there's just a foun- -- |

think the problem is, is just the foundational side of his understanding of how TMAGAC
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was working in the annex. So | don't think he's trying to be combative. He's here
cooperating, this is the second round.

Ms.. Oh, no.

Mr. Steggerda. But,_, my simple point is that, you know, if you ask him
just what might seem like a basic fact based on the other aspects of your investigation did
RNC employees draft this email, and he says | don't know, he's not being combative; it's
just a --it's a reflection of the fact that foundationally, as he said, he doesn't really have
an understanding of how the copy was put together and who actually drafted it, | think

is -

MsJJlf  And, Todd, I think that -

Mr. Steggerda. That was a long objection, but it's a foundational problem | think
we have with Richard's involvement in it.

Ms.. No, no. Here's the thing. | would actually understand more if his
answer had been "l don't know." What was disconcerting was what seemed to be the
suggestion that he knew of actual employees other than RNC copywriters who might
have written this, which would have been extreme news to us. So that's why | want to
be very careful, because the answer "l don't know" is actually very clear, you have no
knowledge either way. But when you suggest that you have actual evidence of a
non-RNC employee who might have drafted this email, that's a whole other ballpark.

You know about a JFA and about the way that something may have been run.
What | want to make crystal clear and delineate is, you don't actually have any evidence
or knowledge that there was an individual who ever wrote copyright copy for TMAGAC
who did not work for the RNC, who in fact worked for the Trump campaign.

Mr. Walters. Look, |, again, not trying to be combative, but, sure, then, | don't

have any knowledge of an RNC member ever writing this copy other than you saying it.
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Right? All | know --

MsJJJil. Okay. well, |-

Mr. Walters. No. Excuse me. Alll know --all |l know is that the joint venture
included both RNC staff and Trump campaign staff. And my understanding, that staff
from both entities were drafting copy for emails. And what | am saying is | don't know
of a spec- -- what specific staff member from either entity drafted copy or if that didn't
happen. |am telling you what my understanding was.

Mr. Steggerda. s it really more of your expectation or speculation, is that what
we're really --

Mr. Walters. Correct. | mean, this is what my understanding of how the -- a
JFA works.

Ms. -_ I'm confused, because | -- | thought we spent the first 30 minutes
going over your understanding of what Mr. Zambrano was responsible for, what
Mr. Bodenheimer was responsible for, and it was supervising RNC copywriters who draft
both RNC and TMAGAC emails. So | thought we actually had established quite well
earlier that you were aware of RNC employees who drafted TMAGAC copyright. Are we
now going back on that?

Mr. Walters. You first -- you just said RNC employees drafting RNC emails, and
then you're saying RNC employees drafted TMAGAC emails. They are not
interchangable to me. Okay? So --and, again, perhaps it's me, I'm just confused, but
RNC employees drafted RNC-specific emails. And R -- and my understanding was that
RNC employees and Trump campaigh employees worked together to draft TMAGAC
emails. And what you're saying is that you don't know of any Trump campaign
individuals being involved with this. And | am saying that is news to me, because my

understanding was that they worked together.
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Q  Mr. Walters, let's just parse out what your lawyer said, which might help
clear this up. When you say your understanding, understanding to a lawyer means you
have a basis and fact to believe that. If you say it was your expectation, that's different.
Your lawyer noted that it might be your expectation.

So is it your expectation that RNC employees and Trump campaign employees
worked together to draft these --

A Correct.

Q  -- and were both copywriters, that you said it's your expectation that was
what was going on?

A Yes.

Q Now, is it fair to say you don't have an actual understanding, based in either
information given to you by someone else or from your own observation, that, in fact,
both RNC and Trump campaignh employees drafted copy for TMAGAC?

A Yes. By your definition, yes. That is helpful. Thank you.

Q  Okay. So--butyoudo have an understanding, as I've defined it, that RNC
employees drafted copy for TMAGAC. s that correct?

A Correct. And for RNC emails.

Q  Allright. So the one area that you do not have any understanding about is
the involvement of Trump campaign copywriters. Is that correct?

A It's correct | do not have an understanding of that but an expectation that it
happened.

Q  Okay. Solet's go to exhibit 22, which is another TMAGAC email that came
out near the time of this exhibit | just showed you. And here it says, Breaking:

Democrats plan to steal the election.
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And then you can see in the second full paragraph it says, It's no -- if we can stop
scrolling, yeah.

It's no secret that Democrats will try to steal this election.

And it says, They can't stand the thought of America rejecting their candidate so
they will do whatever it takes to manipulate the results.

Have you seen emails like this that came out of TMAGAC? Have you seen these
kind of emails? Sorry. Yeah. Let me clarify.

This email comes out November 4th. At the time in November 2020, were you
aware that TMAGAC was sending emails like this?

A | --no. |don't recall seeing this email or this -- this type of content. But, |
mean, with that being said, | do know that this is the kind of rhetoric that was coming out
of the White House from the President. | am aware of that.

Q  And our understanding, which -- what we understand, Mr. Walters, is that
the copywriters would look to take the messaging from the candidate, from both tone
and substance and content, to re-create that, because it's obviously going to supporters
of President Trump. So | think your understanding is consistent with ours.

What | want to ask you, though -- I'm sorry, did you --

A Yeah. Yes, that would be my expectation.

Q  Okay. Now, from the RNC perspective, as the chief of staff, would
you -- from me read reading this, it appears to be different in -- it appears to be
substantively different from your -- what you espouse was your understanding as to the
state of potential fraud on November 3rd. Is that fair -- is that a fair reading, that
what -- the assertions being made here are substantively different than the concerns you
espouse concerning the altering processes that may allow an increase in fraud? Is thata

fair reading?
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A So | -- look, | don't want to get into parsing out words or, you know, word
games. But, again, | go back to Democrats -- | don't separate them necessarily. Like,
Democrats changing -- using COVID to change laws throughout the country, to create
mass confusion among voters, to remove voting safeguards, to remove ballot security
created a massive environment for fraud. And | imagine that this type of content was
coming from that, as well as the rhetoric of the President.

Q  So when you say "as well as the rhetoric of the President," you're
now -- you're not being clear again, right. Because now you're parsing out two sources.
I'm asking something very specific. This --

A | think they can --

Q  Mr. Walters, we can't speak over each other. When I'm done, you can
speak.

A I'm sorry. I'm sorry.

Q It says, Breaking: Democrats plan to steal the election.

And what | want to understand from you is that, is your view that -- and it says
again, It's no secret that Democrats will try to steal this election.

As | read this, it is speaking about a future plan that Democrats are going to try to
subvert the will of the people. Is that a fair reading of what this email is suggesting?

A So, like | said,., | don't think -- | do think you can put them together.
And | don't think it's fair to say that one is -- one is relevant and one isn't. Democrats
changed election laws, as I've said multiple times, throughout the country to create
confusion among voters. They used their emergency powers to strip safeguards from
ballots. And what | am saying is that led to an atmosphere where fraud could happen.

Q  Now, twice you said Democrats changed the laws to create confusion. Isit

your --
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A Yeah.

Q  Okay. Soit'syour assertion that Democratic legislators at the State level
intended to create confusion. Is that your testimony?

A | don't know that that was in -- that that was their -- | -- no, | don't know that
that was their -- that they wanted to create confusion. | apologize if | misspoke. It did
create confusion.

Q  Okay. So, again --

A Whether there was intent, | don't know.

Q Do you think this email, one, suggested there was an intent to steal the
election or it's just a by-product of a stolen election?

A I'm sorry. Again, I'll say it for the third time. Democrats changed election
laws throughout the country, removed voting safeguards from throughout the country,
stripped ballot protections that we have had in this country for decades and which
created, whether they intended it for to or not, created confusion and created an
atmosphere for fraud to exist. And what | think -- | think that this email couples that
with the rhetoric from the White House and from the President.

Q  Mr. Walters, you can repeat the talking point all day long and we'll be here
all day long. |don't think it's helpful. And what we want to do, Mr. Walters, we want
to be accurate. It doesn't matter to me what the answeris. |just want a clear answer
and a clear record. And repeating the same talking points is not helpful. It does not
give --

Mr. Steggerda. Itis not --

Mr._ Todd, please don't interrupt. Let me finish. Youcan

speak when I'm done.

Mr. Steggerda. It's not a talking --
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Mr._ Todd, please don't speak. Todd, we've been asked not to

speak over each other. When I'm done, if you want to speak, you can speak.
sy M. |

Q  Mr. Walters, you repeated the same talking point again and again. These
emails come out from people who are in your chain -- directly of supervision. What we
want to understand, Todd, is the answer could very -- excuse me, Richard, the answer
could very simply be what you suggested at first, which is RNC copywriters are drafting
messaging that is consistent with what President Trump is saying, and he is the candidate
and that's what leads TMAGAC's messaging. That's a perfectly understandable result.

What I'm trying to parse out, Mr. Walters, is whether the RNC's position you find
to be consistent with the messaging in this these TMAGAC emails or inconsistent. Right?

Is this what -- and when you say -- when you use the language of it marries,
basically, let's call it the election integrity argument, married with the messaging coming
out of the campaign, that, to me, as | understand what you're saying, suggests that, no,
by itself, this is not what the RNC is saying. You need to marry that with what the
candidate is saying. And when you put those together, then is all makes sense.

But, of course, President Trump is saying openly the Democrats are going to try to
steal the election. That doesn't help us understand. | want to get the RNC's position
from your vantage point. Is the RNC's position what this email is saying or is it not? Is
it something else?

And I'm not asking you to repeat the same lines about changing processes. We
understand that and we understand it well. I'm asking you here, this email goes to
millions upon millions of people. This messaging is repeated again and again and again.
And it is not talking about, oh, processes have changed that were in place for decades.

That's not what the emails say. The emails say the Democrats are trying to steal the



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

55

election. The emails say the leftwing mob wants to reject your candidate. That's what
the emails say.

And I'm asking you the RNC's position and your understanding, is that what it was
as well. That's what I'm asking you.

A So,-, | understand you're fishing for an answer that you want, and I'm
not going to give you just what you're looking for. Okay? So |'m going to go back to
what I've said now for the sixth or seventh time. Democrats used COVID as a way to
change election laws throughout the country, as well as remove safeguards from ballots
throughout the country that created confusion and created an atmosphere ripe for fraud.
And | believe that this email and probably others that were sent came from that, coupled
with rhetoric from the President.

| think it was unfair to think that the copywriters wouldn't take into consideration
what Democrats were doing throughout the country to, once again, remove safeguards
from ballots, create confusion, and create an atmosphere ripe for fraud. So | think it
comes from both places.

Q  Are you aware of the RNC challenging the election wins of any Republican in
any race in 2020, as saying that those results were questionable on the same ballots

where Joe Biden won?

A I'm not.
Q Whynot?
A | don't know. [|'m just not aware of it.

Q  Did you ever have any concerns that Republicans who won, that every single
Republican who won their House race across the country won on a ballot with Joe Biden
on it as well, and for the States that he also won, that there could be fraud for those

Republican seats, or did that the not matter for you?
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A | -- | think that's an unfair question. If you want to talk just about 2020,
look at what the RNC has done, regardless of whether Republican or Democrat. We
filed lawsuit in Pennsylvania yesterday getting involved in our Republican --

Q  Sir, sir, we have to --

A Do not interrupt me. Do notinterrupt me. Do notinterrupt me. Do not
interrupt me as | did not interrupt you. Thank you.

We filed a lawsuit in Pennsylvania yesterday in a -- in a Senate race between Dr.
Oz and David McCormick, who are running for Senate, regarding ballots that are not
dated being counted. So, yes, there are instances where we do get involved, where we
do intervene in areas that may just involve Republicans because it is for what is best
when it comes to election integrity and for what is best when it comes to ballot security.
So there are -- that is an example of us getting involved.

Ms.! Did you do any fundraising or messaging surrounding that litigation?

Mr. Walters. We've done a lot of messaging around it, yes.

Ms. . Did you --

Mr. Walters. The chairwoman has --

Mr._ [Inaudible] fundraising question.

BY ms I

Q  Did you do fundraising --

A The chairwoman -- the chairwoman has been on TV three times about it,
number one. And she was on today and on TV yesterday about it. And as far as
fundraising goes, like | said, this happened yesterday and we pulled our fundraising offline
because of the school shooting in Texas.

Q  This was Pennsylvania, you said?

A Correct.
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Q Inthe messaging, did Ms. McDaniel say that they were trying to steal the
election in Pennsylvania?

A | have not seen her interviews. |'ve been here with you.

Q  Are you aware of any messaging where the discussion in Pennsylvania over
this ballot issue was that the election in that situation was being stolen?

A | haven't seen the interviews.

Mr. . 2 < you generally aware of Ms. McDaniel's positions
before she goes public or is that -- are you cut out of those decisions?

Mr. Walters. It depends. This specific instance | have not been involved in her
immediate prep or conversations on it.

BY Ms. [l

Q  You can understand the concern, though. And | think that the question
that we were trying -- | -- it really seemed like an easy question on its face because you
spent quite a bit of time explaining what the RNC's position was and its extensive
explanation of changing laws for COVID, not a single -- not a single sentence or word of
which made it into a fundraising email issued by TMAGAC. Not a single thing that you
said is the position of the RNC in terms of election integrity made it into these fundraising
emails, other than they're trying to steal the election.

And it didn't seem like a difficult question to say you have stated the RNC's
position multiple times. That position has never, in fact, been stated in a single TMAGAC
fundraising email. To the contrary, a simplified, not nuanced, accusatory message of
they're trying to steal the election is what is being sent out. Is A consistent with B?

It seemed like a softball, but you seem unwilling to say that your extremely
extensive nuanced position was never, in fact, represented in a single fundraising email.

We thought we could just ask the honest question, if they never sent your message, if
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they sent something different, was that inconsistent with the RNC's position, because you
have sat here and explained it quite well over and over. We didn't think it was
disingenuous to say, that message was never conveyed in a single TMAGAC fundraising
email. Wasit?

We've looked at them, we have not seen anything similar to the explanation
you've provided. And all we thought was you could agree that these emails did not
convey the position of the RNC,

A | apologize that I'm not fitting your narrative. However, | think it's difficult
for you to sit there and say that you understand how 40 million people received these
emails, how they may have -- how it may have been conveyed to them or how they may
have understood it, number one. Number two, | also think that copywriters can see
what is going on with what the RNC is doing and what we're saying, as well as what the
President is saying, and come up with an email. |don't think that that's out of -- such a
crazy idea and out of the realm of possibility.

Q | understand what you're saying. And | will tell you, as somebody who
reads this email just as a basic American and hears the message that's in it, | have sat here
and heard you explain extremely effectively what is effectively an election integrity
argument. There were laws changed. Those changes opened up gaps that could have
possibly led to fraud.

And my only point was, if you have a basic understanding of English and you read
the 600 or so fundraising emails between the election and January 6th, you will never see
the nuanced election integrity argument that you have put forward as your opinion
consistent with the RNC's position. And I'm not trying to make a narrative. |'m stating
afact. That has never been expressed in an TMAGAC email, so the logical conclusion

was these emails did not reflect the RNC's vision.
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A That's just not true. The email that you have up right now, there's a line
that says, we need your help to defend the integrity of our election. That's literally
election integrity. Defend the election integ- -- | mean, that's the email that's up right
now. So for you sitting here saying that this was never said is not true. As a matter of
fact, this goes directly into what | was referencing in the hybrid of what the RNC was
saying, as well as what Trump was saying. You had the rhetoric, which I'm assuming this
is coming from Trump, without knowing for sure, plus what the RNC is saying is we need
your help to defend the integrity of our election.

Q  Sothe email is consistent with the RNC's position.

A It is a hybrid, what I've been saying along. It is a hybrid.

Q  Okay. So pick outfor me the piece that's Trump and not RNC.

A | don't know. You'd have to ask the copywriters what was going through
their mind when they wrote it. But what | am telling you is that | do know for a fact, as
we've been saying, defend election integrity, as |'ve sat here and said over and over again,
Democrats used COVID as a way to change election laws, to strip safeguards from our
ballots, to create confusion. Whether they intended to or not, confusion was created,
which undermined the integrity of our election. There was an email up that | was
reading. It's now moved on. Butthere was a line that -- | don't know where it went,
but --

Q Holdon. Can we scroll back?

A That the line states, We need your help to defend the integrity of our
election, which was the position of the RNC multiple times.

Q Okay. And|appreciate you identifying the sentence that is consistent with
the RNC's position.

Let's try this. It's no secret that Democrats will try to steal this election. They
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can't stand the thought of America rejecting their candidate so they'll do whatever it
takes to manipulate the results.

Is that consistent with the RNC's position at the time?

A | think at the time our position was there was so much confusion created
that the results could have been manipulated.

Q  Soyou can say yes, it is your position on one sentence, but you can't say yes
or no for that -- for that paragraph, you cannot say yes or no, whether that was consistent
with your position, without modifying it and explaining it and extending it to make it your
position?

A | just -- | think it's unfair that you sit here and think that 40 million people
who received this email convey it in a way only you do or that your panel does or that
your partisan committee does. | believe that people can see this and believe that
because election integrity -- because elections our processes would change, that the
integrity of our elections were, you know, at risk, and that created confusion over and
over and over again. And the results could have been manipulated.

| mean, it's just -- it's ridiculous to me that only this -- you believe this can only be
viewed through your lens.

Q  Mr. Walters, let me explain something to you. You don't know me. You
don't know me.

A Right.

Q  But your counsel has seen me in countless interviews. And | think pretty
comfortably he will tell you that I'm probably one of the least partisan people that you'll
meet and that | have not in any way treated this as a partisan activity. You can
take -- you can message however you want.

I'm asking you a simple sentence, which was, you stated the sentence, we need
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your help to defend the integrity of our election, was consistent with the RNC's position
at the time. |assumed that was because you are number two at the RNC and you have
knowledge about what the RNC's position was at the time.

| asked you a simple question that was the paragraph above, is that consistent
with the RNC's message at the time. And you are unable to say yes or no without a
gualifier, which suggests that that paragraph alone was not consistent with the RNC's
message, because that's grammar and English and not partisan. And |I'm asking you a
guestion that has nothing to do with either of our political beliefs.

I'm asking, as the number two at the RNC, competent in your position at knowing
the message, is the second paragraph consistent with the RNC's position or do you have
to add a bunch of qualifiers to make it the RNC's position?

A What I've said over and over again is that this email and others like it are a
hybrid of the RNC's position and what Donald Trump was tweeting out or saying at the
time. You actually started off this series of questions with saying nothing in these emails
echoed the position of the RNC, even when it was right in front of you. So I've proven
that to be incorrect.

As I've said, we need your help to defend the integrity of our election, was a
position of the RNC. | understand that you want to try and manipulate this in a way that
fits whatever -- you say you don't have a narrative, fine -- but whatever you all want it to
be. But my pointis Democrats changed election laws, they stripped safeguards from
ballots, they created a ton of confusion -- again, whether they meant to or not, | won't get
into that -- that could have led to ballots and the results being manipulated.

And because it isn't as clear-cut as you want, you know, | can't help that, but that
is my view and that is the position of the RNC.

Q | think you actually answered the question when you could not state that
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that paragraph was or was not consistent and it's a hybrid. So it's the portion of the
position that Trump adds, if I'm understanding you, to the long nuanced explanation that
you have that is the RNC's position. But sitting here today, you can't simply say yes or
no whether that paragraph is the RNC's position, without claiming it's a hybrid, without
adding explanation, and without giving a lengthy explanation of what the RNC adds to
that, because otherwise it's just Trump's narrative. And that's fine. | get it.

A But it's not true.

Q  But you just sat here and effectively established that. And no matter how

much --
A |ldidn't.
Q  If we stripped this out -- you did, because you could say --
A |ldidn't.

Q  We need your help to defend the integrity of our election. You could say
that is, in fact, consistent by itself with the RNC's position. You are able to logically
reason that out. But somehow for the paragraph above, you cannot answer that yes or
no without saying it's a hybrid of the RNC and Trump. And we will never know because
you cannot tell us what --

A Well, we started this conversation --

Mr. Steggerda. Can| --

Mr. Walters. Well, | just want to make a point. We started this conversation
with you saying nowhere in this email could | point to anything that was the RNC's
position. So that's how you started the conversation.

BY MS.-:
Q  And here's the thing --

A Excuse me. Please don't interrupt me.
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Q  Fine.

A Okay. And like | said, | pointed out that that is incorrect. As | imagine this
type of language, we need your help to defend the integrity of our election, is throughout
other emails as well. And so now you would look to parse it out paragraph by
paragraph. And what my point is, what I've said all along, is that this email, I'm
imagining if | were the copywriter, which | don't know what was going on in their head, is
that they are taking a hybrid of RNC messaging, which we see here, and Trump
messaging, which I'm assuming part of this is Trump messaging. | believe he has
previously said that the Democrats tried to steal the election. | don't know for sure, but
it sounds like something he probably said. And | believe that that is the hybrid that | am
referencing. |don't know --

Q No, no. |accept your correction that we were wrong. | accept your
correction that, as the number two at the RNC, you pointed out to us that we were
incorrect, because that sentence, we need your help to defend the integrity of our
election, was in fact consistent with RNC messaging. So you were right and you knew
that.

What | can't understand is what seems like the disingenuousness of then not
being able to say yes or no, that the paragraph standing above it, taken by itself, without
any additions or qualifiers, was or was not consistent with the RNC's position. That to
me seems disingenuous.

Mr. Steggerda. Objection. [|--1--1don't want to say I'm offended, because |
appreciate the dialogue. You've got a witness here who is trying his best to give a really
complicated answer to a complicated question that has nuances to it. What he's said
now at least six times is that he believes that probably is the type of language that the

President used. He also pointed to the third paragraph and said that's more specifically
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consistent with what he had been trying to explain from a process.

When you ask him a straight yes or no question that basically calls for a heartfelt
academic description of what he really believes, and then for you to say it's disingenuous,
when he's trying to be truthful, he's trying to tell you exactly what he thinks on these
complicated issues. And the reality is, which concerns me, we're not doing this over a
beer, we're doing it in a highly complex and challenging scenario where this transcript is
going to get out to the public, you've got DOJ asking to read transcripts. And so he's
trying to be truthful here. That's the number one goal. And I'm sorry that a yes or no
answer doesn't fit perfectly with what you want. But he's going to keep saying it over
and over and over again the way that he feels it truthfully. And for you to say it's
disingenuous, | just think it's just too much.

And | -- I've worked really, really closely and everything that you said about our
relationship | think is true, but that | -- I've just got to object to calling my witness
disingenuous.

Ms.. Todd, you answered the question in your answer, because what |
asked him was -- you said he has answered with nuance. And the question that | said
was, that second paragraph, my understanding from everything Mr. Walters said, that
second paragraph is not consistent with the RNC's position without adding all of the
nuance he's been saying.

And all | was saying was, if you did add anything to that paragraph, if you're the
person reading it sitting here today, start at the paragraph to the end of the paragraph
with no addition of nuance, just like an average American, like the hundreds of millions
who received this would, if you started reading that paragraph and you ended reading
that paragraph, without the addition of all the nuance that Mr. Walters provided, all |

asked was, is that paragraph standing alone consistent with the position of the RNC at the
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time. And I'm sorry, | thought that could be a yes or no answer.

Mr. Walters. Well, itcan't be. And, unfortunately, you know, it can't be,
number one. And number two, | don't think it's fair for you to sit here and say, just this
one paragraph sitting here reading it, you know, 2 years after the election, when in fact
the average American was very much so in tune to what was going on, what was going on
in TV, what they were reading in their papers, what they were seeing on social media, like
very much so. It's not a black and white answer. It's just not.

Ms.l Mr. Walters, | really apologize. | don't mean to be rude. |haveto
step out, so please don't -- please don't take this the wrong way. They're going to
continue. |just -- | had a hard stop at noon that I'm late for, and | apologize. |just
didn't -- we were in the middle of something, and | apologize for having to leave, but | just
wanted to apologize.

Mr. Walters. Thank you.

Mr. Steggerda. Thank you, | N

Ms. . 'l be back. Apologies.

Mr. Steggerda. Okay.

Q  Mr. Walters, I'm going to show you what's been marked as gov -- excuse me,
as exhibit 4. It is an email from -- you know, actuaIIy,- let's start at exhibit 3.
Let's go to exhibit 3.

Mr. Walters, this is an email from November 5th.

If we can scroll down to the bottom of page one.

It's a November 4th email. Subject line says, For approval: Election defense &
Pennsylvania. And it says -- it's an email from Julia Trent. Do you know who that is?

A | don't. Not--1don't -- | think she was on the digital team, but | don't know
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her personally.

Q  Okay. Now, scrolling through here --

A Sorry. | said she was on the digital team, she still may be. |don't --|don't
know.

Q  Okay. And thisis one of the approval emails, right, that we have been
talking about. I'm going to scroll -- you can scroll down a bit to page 2, please.

Is it fair to say this looks like one of the approval emails we've been discussing?

A It could. Yeah, yeah, sure.

Q  Whenyou say it could, | mean -- what | understand and witnesses have
testified to is that this is -- what | understand that witnesses have test -- what | know is
that witnesses have testified, including -- that this is the approval emails of how TMAGAC
texts and emails were approved from RNC --

A Okay.

Q  --copywriters. So what I'm trying to understand, is this your understanding
of the emails we've been talking about?

A Yeah -- well, sorry to -- these look like text messages. | think that's why I'm
confused.

Q  That'sfair. They are text messages. And we can scroll down further.

And our understanding is that these approval chains came with both texts, as you
see here at the top.

A Okay.

Q  And then you can now see here, this is an email -- you can stop, please.

And you see here this email says, The left will try to steal this election. And I'm
calling on you to step up and fight back.

So that's an email here. You can see at the bottom of this email it says, President
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Trump wins Pennsylvania.

Is this fair to say that this is when the approval emails, that while you didn't
engage with them, you were on them? Is that fair?

A | --assume | was. | don't know for sure. Butlassume | --if this went to
the approval chain, then | would have been on it.

Q  Okay. Were you aware of any discussions regarding President Trump
preemptively claiming that he won Pennsylvania?

A Not that | recall.

Q  Okay. Soelectionwas November 3rd. We get to November 7, Joe Biden
is made -- is declared President-elect by the general media. That's Saturday, November
7th. Is that what you recall?

A | believe -- | believe that's what it -- correct, it was Saturday.

Q  Andthen we have -- where were you when you heard that the media called
the race for President -- now President Biden?

A | believe | was in Washington, D.C.

Q  And when that happened, did that change your view as to the state of the
Presidential race or have no impact? And what was your view -- on or about November
7th, what was your view as to the state of the race?

A My view was that the -- there was a lot of pending and ongoing litigation and
that that's where our focus was in that litigation with regard to this specific race. | was

also focused on Georgia at the time with the two Senate runoffs there.

o I
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Q  And when did you get back to work?

A | don't -- I'm sorry, | don't remember the exact date, but | think we were
running into Thanksgiving around that time, but | don't remember the exact date.

Q  Well, is it fair to say you were back to work by end of November?

A Yes, that's fair.

Q Okay. And|wantto zoom out a bit before we go into more approval
emails. Is it your view that there was any fraud that occurred that was dispositive as to
who the President would be, as in who won the election?

A I'm not sure -- I'm not sure | completely understand the question. I'm
sorry. Do you mind restating it?

Q  Sois it fair to say that in every election there's some level of fraud?

A Probably. Yes, | would think so, yes.

Q  Allright. So, for example, someone may vote on -- on behalf of a deceased

spouse and --
A Sure.
Q  --that would be an example fraud. Correct?
A Right.

Q  Butif that were the only example of fraud, let's just take for the purposes of

hypothetical, the only fraud that occurred, that fraud would not be dispositive as to who
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won the race if the race were decided by more than one vote. Is that fair?

A Correct.

Q  Sowhat I'm asking you --

A That's correct.

Q  --isthat are you aware and do you have a view as to whether there was
fraud that was dispositive as to who won the 2020 Presidential election?

A As in today or at the time?

Q  Let's--asintoday. Sitting here today, what is your view?

A | am not aware of fraud -- enough fraud that could have overturned the
election.

Q  Sois it your view that Joe Biden legitimately won the 2020 election?

A It is my view that Joe Biden is the President.

Q ldidn't ask you that, sir. He's clearly the President. Answer the question |
asked you, please. |'m asking you whether he legitimately won the 2020 election. He's
obviously the President. |'m asking whether he legitimately won the 2020 election?

A | believe that we will never know the amount of fraud that was committed
or to the extent to which fraud was committed. And so, because of that, | am willing to

say that Joe Biden is the President of the United States. That's where I'm at.
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[12:10 p.m.]
o o

Q  But you cannot say whether he's a legitimate President. Is that correct?

A | don't know that we will -- that we -- again, we'll never know the amount of
fraud that could've been committed or that was committed. Again, like, the process of,
like, once you separate ballots from envelopes, it's impossible to trace, you know? And
so it's hard for me to say other -- that -- anything other than that he is the President of
the United States.

Q  Now, in 2016 ballots were separated from votes, as they are every election
cycle, right? That happened in 2016 as well, did it not?

A Not to the extent that it did in 2020.

Q Didit happenin 2016, yes or no?

A Yes, but not to the extent that it did in 2020.

Q Do you know exactly how much fraud was committed in the 2020 cycle in
the Presidential race?

A [ don't --

Q  Andif youdo know -- let me finish, please. If you do know, tell us exactly
how much it was.

A | don't think we'll ever know the exact amount.

Q  And do you think President Trump was the legitimate -- was elected
legitimately in 20167

A | --1--1--1mean, | do. | mean,|--that's, very much so, contrary to what a
number of Democrats have said, calling him an illegitimate President over and over again,

but | do believe that Trump was elected legitimately in 2016.
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Q  --was legitimately elected?

Mr. Steggerda. You can do it one more time.

Mr. Walters. Yeah, let me -- I'll do it one more time.
Mr. Steggerda. One more time.

Mr. Walters. It's only been 14 or 15 times.

So, in 2020 --
v . Vel
Mr. Walters. -- Democrats --

Mr. |  But''m not asking you about 2020.

Mr. Walters. No, hold on.

Mr._ I'm not asking you about 2020.

Mr. Walters. | will get to -- please don't interrupt me.
In 2020 --

The Reporter. One at a time, please.

Mr. Steggerda. Canyou -- hey-?

Mr. Steggerda. Does the stenographer have the ability to read back the

guestion?

Mr.- There's no need to read back the question. | can restate

Mr. Steggerda. Okay.
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Mr. | . \What I'm asking you, Mr. Walters -- and you can recite all

you want you've said it 17 times. You haven't.

And our point here -- and | say this genuinely. We are not looking for political
grandstanding from us or from you. We are not. We are looking to be clear as to what
the RNC thought and why and when.

So, here, you just testified that you cannot say whether Joe Biden is the legitimate
President because you don't know how much fraud was committed.

| asked you how much fraud was committed in 2016. You said you don't know.
| asked you whether President Trump was legitimately elected in 2016. You say he was.

So | want you, in regard to 2016, when you worked at the RNC -- not in the same
position, obviously -- but | want to understand how you determine, without knowing the
amount of fraud, that President Trump was legitimately elected in 2016.

Mr. Steggerda. You can answer.

Mr. Walters. So it's going to be the same answer for the 18th time.

So, in 2020 -- and this will get to your question on 2016 if you'll allow me to finish
this time.

In 2020, Democrats changed election laws throughout the country. They used
COVID to create confusion, intentional or not, and to also strip away safeguards from
ballots. And that created an atmosphere of fraud, likely through mail-in ballots, to the
extent we will not -- we will never know.

In 2016, you did not have anywhere near the level of vote-by-mail that you had.
All of the safeguards that were removed in 2020 were in place in 2016. And because of
that, | think it is okay to say that Donald Trump was elected legitimately.

Regardless of how many times Democrats have said otherwise over and over

again or Hillary Clinton recently saying the election was stolen from her in 2016,
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regardless of any of that, | do believe that he was elected legitimately in 2016.
By MR. I

Q  Sois it fair to say that you also cannot say that Republicans who won in
2020, on the same ballot as Joe Biden, were also legitimately elected?

A | think it's fair to say, if people want to contest the results of an election
because of potential widespread fraud, that it should be looked into. Every individual,
every candidate, the party committee, we have a right, whether it's Democrats or
Republicans, to look into issues that may have occurred and to challenge them in court.
One hundred percent, absolutely; | don't care if you're a Republican or Democrat.

Q  Sir, respectfully, please listen to the question | asked you and answer that
guestion. We don't need to speeches. We don't need political talking points. | asked
you a specific question. If we're going to get out of here in any reasonable time -- you
can make whatever statements you want in public forums. It doesn't help here. The
way the record works here, this is not going to be read in some public forum or where
your public statements will make a difference. It's just going to make us be here longer
today.

What I'm asking you -- | want to just delineate whether there are concerns that
the RNC's having that pertain just to Joe Biden and that race or whether those concerns
are broader.

So, for example, there are Republicans who were on the same ballot as Joe Biden
in Wisconsin, right? Is that fair?

A Sure.

Q  Okay. Now, | assume that Wisconsin --is it fair to say that you would have
the position that you cannot say whether Joe Biden legitimately won Wisconsin as a

State? Is that the position that you would have and is consistent with the RNC?
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A | am not -- my position is -- I'm not going to go State by State and say
whether Joe Biden legitimately won a State or didn't win a State.

My position is that there was so much confusion and potential for fraud across the
country in multiple States that allowed for people to potentially commit fraud, for
safeguards from ballots to be removed, and to create confusion throughout the country
among voters. And, again -- and because of that, it's hard to say if Joe Biden was elected
legitimately or not, just like many Democrats won't say whether President Trump was
elected legitimately or not.

And to further answer your question, if you look at lowa, Miller-Meeks in lowa,
who only won in 2020 by six votes, Democrats, as a matter of fact, did challenge that.
Nancy Pelosi refused to seat her as a Member of the House of Representatives until the
individual she was running against finally conceded and stepped aside. So | would say
that, yes, Democrats did challenge Republicans who won in 2020 as well.

Q  Youcansay "yes" all youwant. That's not what | asked you. My question

| asked you --
A Okay.
Q | mean, you can -- sir, we're trying to get precise points. And you haven't

listened to the question | asked. And if you listen to that question and answer it, we will
move a lot quicker so we can get out of here.

What I'm asking you -- | want to understand the RNC's position. And you said
you don't want to go State by State, but | think it's helpful to be specific in what we're
discussing.

There are Republicans who won on the ballot under the same processes that Joe
Biden won. So what I'm trying to understand is, do those concerns you have, that have

led you to believe that the President of the United States -- to not have a position -- or to
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not know whether he was a legitimately elected President, do those also apply to
Republicans who won on the same ballot, where you also cannot know whether they

were legitimately elected? |Is --

A Yeah.
Q  --thataccurate?
A | think we've seen that from, like, the example | just gave with Miller-Meeks,

where Democrats refused to seat her and refused to acknowledge that she won that race.
And you're right, those were the exact same mechanisms that were used to elect Joe

Biden. So, by the Democrats' own actions, | would say the answer to your question is

yes.
Q  Again, you're doing your political grandstanding that isn't helping.
A You guys --
Q  Let mefinish, sir.
A Okay.
Q |don't care about what Nancy Pelosi did. This is not the Nancy Pelosi
committee.

What we want to understand is to -- what the position as to the fraud, whether
there was fraud that the RNC believed existed in the lead-up to the 6th, the attack on the
Capitol, whether the fraud that was told to the American people, what basis the RNC
thought it had in making the claim that the RNC copywriters did, and the scope as to what
the RNC believed that fraud was, or the environment that led up to that fraud.

So I'm asking you, for, as you say, you know, basically the seventh time now,
whether you have a position as to whether you can arrive at the legitimacy of Republicans
that were elected on the same ballot as Joe Biden. Do you believe those Republicans

who were elected in States that Joe Biden won were legitimately elected to their seats in
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Congress?

And I'm asking you, again, about the Republicans, and the party specification is on
purpose. So, please, sir, | don't want to hear about the Democrats. | want to ask you,
as the second in command of the RNC at that point, do you think those individuals were
legitimately elected, those Republicans?

A | think that if a Democrat wanted to -- and | appreciate you don't want to
hear about it, but you're going to -- if a Democrat wanted to bring a challenge against
legitimacy of those individuals, they could have.

And, as a matter of fact, they did. Again, I'll use the example of Miller-Meeks in
lowa, who won by six votes, who was not seated in a timely manner when she should've
been until finally her opponent stepped aside.

Q  Soare you suggesting that the RNC's concerns here were for partisan gain
only, or were they about the integrity of the election? Because my understanding, sir --

A It's about --

Q Let mefinish, please. My understanding, sir --

A Okay.

Q My understanding was that what you were espousing was the position that
the RNC was engaged in these election integrity efforts because it wanted a secure
system, not because it wanted a specific winner. Is that fair?

A Absolutely.

Q  Sowhat you're saying, if I'm correct, is that the security of the system, from
the RNC's perspective, was not a partisan issue; it was an integrity issue as to, we can all
be confident that our election system is secure. Is that fair?

A Correct.

Q  Soany concerns that might apply to Joe Biden, in your view, would be
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equally applicable to Republicans if the circumstances were the same. Is that fair?

A | will go back to the example | gave earlier in Pennsylvania, where we
currently have a Republican primary going on, where we have two candidates running for
U.S. Senate, two Republicans candidates running for U.S. Senate, where one of the
candidates is suing to have ballots that arrived or that -- excuse me -- that are not dated,
have those ballots counted in the total.

The RNC -- again, two Republicans -- has intervened in that case, because we
believe that is not right and that those ballots should not be counted if they are not
dated, because have you no idea when they arrived.

And so that example shows that we are about election integrity and the integrity
of the election for the entire process, regardless if it's Republican or Democrat.

Q  Okay. So, again -- and, listen, Mr. Walters, here's the beauty of this
process. If youdon't want to answer a question, just say it. Just say you don't want to
answer it. Say that the question is not something that you want to weigh inon. Then
we can move on. Right? But--

A | feel like I've answered it, multiple times.

Q  Butyou haven't. You haven't, sir.

A No, it's not the answer you want --

Q  Again -- wait, wait, wait, wait, wait.

[Cross-talk.]

A -- haven't answered.

Q  Wait, wait. | asked you very -- | know we both have been talking over each
other somewhat, but let's try to do better.

I'm asking you, again -- I'm not asking you about anything you did yesterday. |

honestly, sir, do not care what the RNC did yesterday. | want to hear about your views
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as to what happened between November 3rd and January 6th.

There were Republicans who were on the same ballots that you now say you can't
be sure led to a legitimate President being elected. And I'm asking you, is it fair to say
that those same concerns regarding legitimacy apply to the Republicans who were on
those same ballots in battleground States that won their election and got seated in the
Congress? Is that fair to say, those concerns also apply to them, yes or no?

A | think it is unfair to say what we did yesterday is not applicable here,
because it absolutely is. We intervened in a major Senate race between two
Republicans that could change the outcome of who wins that race regarding an issue of
election integrity. And so that goes to show -- and one of the candidates is not going to
like that. That goes to show how seriously we take the issue of election integrity.

And if there were issues regarding the Republicans in 2020 -- Republican ballots in
2020 and Democrats wanted to bring challenges, they absolutely could, like they did in
lowa with Miller-Meeks, who they refused to seat and sued to try to have her not be the
Congresswoman from that district.

Q Well, | guess --

Mr. Steggerda. [l | would -- can | --

vr. | vh-honr?

Mr. Steggerda. Can | make a point, just in terms of substance and process?

You know, we're really trying to give you broad leeway to ask whatever you want
to ask. When you start to go to non-Presidential races, when you've asked the
guestion -- and | understand why you ask it. | do believe there's 1 of 600 emails where
there's a reference to Joe Biden's legitimacy. |getit. And | think, for that reason, it's
fair to ask Mr. Walters, do you remember seeing that TMAGAC email?

And if | asked you that question, what would your response be?
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Mr. Walters. |don't recall seeing it.

Mr. Steggerda. And then you went further and you asked him, how do you view
the President, whether it's a legitimately elected President or not. He answered it
several times.

And, at that point, | think the testimony is on the record as it relates to what we're
talking about, which are the TMAGAC fundraising emails.

If you want to go further and assess the depths and the consistency of the
RNC -- he's the chief of staff -- no longer the chief of staff -- the breadth of their
consistently on the position of election integrity as to non-Presidential raises, which don't
relate to the TMAGAC email that | think is the source of all of this line of questioning, |
just think we're going to -- we're just going to -- we're going to go forever. And | just
guestion the legislative purpose of that line of extended discussion.

Mr._ Well, | will strongly disagree, Todd. It matters, whether
the RNC and their views are genuinely held, based on facts and their understanding of
what happened, or whether they are partisan -- they're motivated by partisan ends.

That matters, Todd. It matters when we look at these emails.

And, Todd, it's not one email that calls Joe Biden illegitimate; there are multiple
emails. I've just shown you one, but today I'm happy to show you multiple. There are
emails that go into late December, after the States have certified the results, that still say
Joe Biden is going to be an illegitimate President -- language that Mr. Walters today has
adopted, that Joe Biden is effectively -- he's not a legitimate President. Right?

So it is important to understand the intent regarding these statements, so we can
understand why RNC copywriters are writing the things they're writing, and
understanding what the second-in-charge, the person who oversees the digital director,

to understand his thoughts as to the legitimacy of this.
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And it does matter whether -- if Mr. Walters says, "l only think the legitimacy
guestion pertains to Joe Biden and Joe Biden alone," well, Todd, it gives us insight into the
intent or perhaps some insight into what the RNC's public statements -- whether they're
genuine or not.

And that is all important, both in understanding January 6th and preventing the
next January 6th, by leading people to believe that the elections were stolen from them.
So that's what we're trying to do here, Todd.

So, Mr. --

Mr. Steggerda. No, | get it, but | would just say one -- | would just r